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•	 Botswana Open University (BOU) was established by an Act of Parliament, No.13 of 2017.
•	 It is a re-designation of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL)
•	 A public University under the Ministry of Tertiary Education, Research, Science and Technology providing education 

by ODL
•	 Runs a philosophy of life-long learning
•	 Initially mandated to give access to out-of-school youth and adults to secondary education (Open Schooling).
•	 BOCODOL legislation empowered the institution to offer tertiary education programmes
•	 2004	–	first	tertiary	programme	started
•	 2010	–	first	bachelor’s	degree	offered
•	 2011 - Cabinet Directive to initiate transition to university status
•	 Steady expansion of tertiary programmes at all levels, including Masters to 23 in 2018
•	 Offers Continuing Professional Development Courses
•	 Cumulative enrolments exceeded 148 000 by 2017 from 2081 in the year 2000.
•	 Cumulative throughput stood at about 74 000 in 2017 from about 700 in 2002.
•	 BOU	Programme	levels	 include	Open	Schooling,	Certificate,	Diploma,	Undergraduate,	Post-Graduate	 including	

Masters

BOU Academic programme structure consists of:

•	 Centre for Open Schooling
•	 4 Academic Schools – Business and Management Studies;Education; Science and Technology; Social Sciences
•	 Centre for Continuing Professional Development
•	 Programme delivery through “blended learning” i.e. on-line delivery supported by face-to-face sessions
•	 Emphasis on Research and Innovation
•	 “A	digital	flagship”	-	on-line	services	for	processes	such	as	applications,	registration,	payments,	programme	offer-

ing, etc
•	 Potential for cross-border students
•	 Learner-support system spreads across the country through 5 Regional campuses.

BOU Partnerships

•	 BOU actively seeks partners and has a dedicated Centre for Partnerships and Business Development, Local partners 
include Botswana Accountancy College, IDM, Botswana Police Service, secondary schools, technical colleges and 
prisons

•	 Regional partners are Zimbabwe Open University, Namibian College of Open Learning, Open University of Mauri-
tius and University of KwaZulu Natal

•	 International partners include UK Open University, Wawasan Open University and Commonwealth of Learning
•	 BOU hosts the SADC Centre for Distance Education – dedicated to ODL capacity-building

OUR HISTORY
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COUNCIL CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD

It gives me great pleasure to present this Annual Report 
which,	interestingly,	reflects	two	faces	of	what	is	otherwise	
one institution. Whilst some aspects of the report make 
reference to BOCODOL, others refer to the Botswana 
Open University. This is because the Botswana College 
of Distance and Open Learning transformed into the Bot-
swana	Open	University	midway	in	the	2017/18	financial	
year. The Board of BOCODOL did not, therefore, see to 
the end the operations of the year under review as their 
term	of	Office	was	 terminated	 in	November	2017.	The	
Botswana Open University commenced operation in De-
cember	2017	without	a	fully-fledged	governing	body	and	
had to so do to the end of the 2017/18. Only the Chair-
person of the University Council had been appointed by 
the end of March 2018.

Whilst	the	University	Council	had	not	taken	office	by	the	
end of the year under review, it had to preside over the 
external	audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	year	and	
account for them as if it was fully in charge of governance 
oversight during the referred year. The law that instituted 
the Botswana Open University makes it clear that the Uni-
versity is a continuation of BOCODOL. Hence, govern-
ance oversight responsibility had to be as seamless as 
possible. I, therefore, wish to thank the Botswana Open 
University Council for having agreed to take responsibil-
ity for what its Members had not directly planned and 
sanctioned.

I should also express my profound gratitude to the Board 
of BOCODOL for the sterling job that they evidently did. 
The transformation roadmap and transitional plan initia-
tives	reflect	that	the	Board	had	a	clear	and	well	thought	
out direction. The University was thus able to easily con-
tinue and consolidate on the planned work of the Board 
subsequent	to	its	departure.	The	2017/18	audited	finan-
cial	 statements	 also	 reflect	 that	 the	Board	managed	fi-
nancial resources prudently and in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

I would further like to express my thankfulness to the 
Botswana Open University community, employees and 
the Vice Chancellor for the tremendous work done dur-
ing the year under review as well as for the system-
atic manner in which the transition was handled. Whilst 
change management is often challenging, it certainly 
was handled with skill, due care and attention to the 
extent that there was minimal disruption to business 
continuity. This is the spirit that the new Council would 
like to sustain into the future as it seeks to strengthen 
the foundations of the University.

I am hopeful that the University Council will receive 
support from all interested and concerned parties in its 
endeavour to make BOU an institution of impeccable 
repute.

Mr Charles I. Coyne
Council Chairperson
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The 2017-2018 planning year was a special one. The review of 
the performance therein depicts an institution that was running 
2 agendas; that of business continuity as well transformation 
into University status. I should note that the year was charac-
terised by very busy schedules that were somewhat perturbed 
by the pursuit of transformational goals. However, the institu-
tion did relatively well on its core mandate. As in the previ-
ous years, the review followed the Balanced Scorecard model 
perspectives of business results, customer/stakeholder satisfac-
tion,	organisational	effectiveness	and	efficiency	and	people	and	
resources. 

The university recorded notable completion rates of 8494 and 
1518 at Open schooling and Tertiary education levelsrespec-
tively.	 These	figures	 represent	 99.2%	and	158%	performance	
relative to the targets for the year. The total enrolment for the 
period stood at 15 070 against a projected target of 12 900. 
The increase was accounted for by the growing need for sec-
ondary school programmes.

The institution has solid systems and process on student sup-
port	and	general	customer	service	standards.	This	is	typified	by	
the	high	proportions	of	retention	(78%)	and	progression	(90%)	

VICE CHANCELLOR’S NOTE

rates. The use of instructional technologies and the continu-
ous capacitation of staff and students on the same went a long 
way in improving support for learners to remain on course with 
their programmes. During the same year, the University man-
aged to successfully negotiate partnerships with a number of 
institutions and service providers in a bid to radiate access 
to programmes and technology. These include, but are not 
limited to Huawei Technologies - Botswana, Open University 
of Mauritius, Wawasan Open University, Institute of Develop-
ment Management, Botswana Accountancy College and Bot-
swana Police Service.  

The passing of the Botswana Open University Bill into law in 
July 2017 was the highpoint of all the activities of the year. 
Subsequent to the passing of the bill, we came up with a tran-
sitional plan that covered the period between August 2017 
and March 2018 to facilitate mainly the immediate structur-
al	 issues	 that	define	 the	change	of	status.	While	we	did	not	
achieve everything in the transition plan by the end of the 
planning year, the commencement day of the University had 
been declared; the Chancellor and the Council Chairman were 
appointed and the development of the University Statutes was 
completed. Other activities overlapped into the 2018/19 plan-
ning year due to the complexity of the consultations in the 
hierarchy of the establishments involved in the transformation 
agenda. The leadership and staff of the University remain reso-
lute to seeing the institution mature into a unique and reputa-
ble entity in the higher learning space. 

In conclusion, I wish to thank the BOCODOL Board of gover-
nors for their incessant pursuit of the transformation agenda 
which resulted into the birth of the Botswana Open University. 
Their visionary leadership will be told side-by-side with history 
of this institution to eternity. To the BOU staff, your relentless 
efforts	and	sacrifice	have	finally	born	fruit;	it	is	my	conviction	
that we enjoyed working together while we learnt, grew and 
executed the BOU critical initiatives. Now that BOU is in our 
hands, I invite you to yet another journey of positioning the in-
stitution in the diaspora to offer the best services to Batswana 
and their friends in the international space.

We welcome and look forward to advancing the mandate of 
BOU with the new Governing Council.

Thanks to all.
Dr Daniel Tau
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

This has been a critical period in which BOCODOL was going transforma-
tion and Parliament passed the Botswana Open University Act establish-
ing the University. As a result, the transformation has had an effect on the 
University governance, creating a governance vacuum in the last quarter 
of the year, where the governing body’s term came to an end and there 
was no transitional body appointed to continue the business of the insti-
tution following the passing of the Act. There was a governance vacuum 
from	December	2017	and	the	financial	year	ended	without	a	governing	
body. 
 
Board Philosophy

The governing body subscribes to the principles of good corporate gov-
ernance, with inspiration from King IV Code and is governed by the Board 
Charter. The governing body is committed to improving corporate gov-
ernance practices and ensures The institution goes beyond the mere tick 
box exercise. The governing body ensures that the institution observes 
the highest standards of professionalism and integrity in its dealings with 
stakeholders and is committed to putting the interests of its customers 
first.

Board of Directors

BOCODOL is led by a dedicated Board of Directors appointed in terms of 
the BOCODOL Act.

Primary Role

The Board is responsible for steering and setting strategic direction of 
the institution, approving policies and planning, providing oversight for 
implementation and encouraging accountability through reporting and 
disclosure.

Composition

The Board is constituted by 13 members appointed in terms of the Act. 
The Act prescribes representation from the following government and pri-
vate entities:
•	 two	people	from	the	Ministry	of	Education	
•	 one	from	Directorate	of	Public	Service	Management
•	 one	from	Botswana	Qualifications	Authority,
•	 one	from	Ministry	of	Labour	And	Home	Affairs
•	 one	from	the	Ministry	of	Finance	and	Development	Planning,
•	 one	from	Botswana	Federation	of	Trade	Unions,
•	 one	from	Centre	for	Continuing	Education
•	 one	College	staff	representative
•	 one	from	Private	Tertiary	Institution
•	 two	representing	Private	Sector
•	 The	Executive	Director	who	is	an	ex-officio	member.

The BOCODOL Board for 2017/18 was composed of the following 
members:

1.	Mr	Abel	Modungwa	(Board	Chairperson)-	BQA
2. Dr Daniel Tau - Executive Director of BOCODOL
3. Ms Joyce K. Maphorisa (Board Vice-Chairperson) - Private Sector
4. Ms Matshidiso Tlhong - Private Sector
5. Mr Simon Coles - Ministry of Basic Education 
6. Mr Ndondo Koolese-Ministry of Basic Education 
7. Dr Ernest Makhwaje-Ministry of Finance and Economic Development
8. Ms Lebohang Letsie - Botswana Federation of Trade Unions
9. Dr Innocent Botshelo - Centre for Continuing Education, UB
10. Mr Victor Maika - College staff representative
11. Mr Odirile Gabasiane - Private Tertiary Institutions
12. Ms Keba Nyati - Directorate of Public Service Management
13. Ms Dineo Phuti - Ministry of Youth Empowerment, Sport and Culture     
      Development.

Tenure	of	office	for	all	members	expired	in	September	2017	following	the	
passing of the BOU ACT. This therefore created a governance vacuum for 
the	last	quarter	of	the	financial	year.

Tenure of office

Members	hold	office	for	a	term	of	3	years	and	are	eligible	for	reappoint-
ment.

Meetings of the Board

The Act prescribes at least three meetings per year, with provision for spe-
cial meetings as and when need arises. The quorum is 8 members. 

Board Committees

The Board functions through 3 committees being the Programmes Com-
mittee, Human resources Committee and the Finance Committee.

The Programmes Committee

It is responsible for the College’s academic affairs and deals with issues of 
programme development, production, delivery and evaluation. It is con-
stituted as follows:
•	 Ms	Dineo	Phuti	–	Chairperson
•	 The	Executive	Director,	Dr	Daniel	R.	Tau.
•	 Dr	Innocent	S.	Botshelo
•	 Mr	Victor	B.	Maika
•	 Mr	Ndondo	Koolese

Introduction
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Human Resources Committee

The Committee is responsible for human resources management and staff 
welfare. It is constituted by the following:

•	 Mr	Odirile	B.	Gabasiane	–	Chairperson
•	 Dr	Daniel	R.	Tau
•	 Ms	Joyce	K.	Maphorisa
•	 Mr	Victor	Maika
•	 Ms	Keba	M.F.	Nyati
•	 Ms	Lebohang	Letsie

The Finance Committee

The	Committee	is	responsible	for	the	management	of	the	finances	of	the	
College. It is composed of the following:

•	 Ms Matshidiso Tlhong – Chairperson
•	 Dr Daniel R. Tau
•	 Dr Innocent S. Botshelo
•	 Mr Ndondo Koolese
•	 Dr Ernest N. Makhwaje

Director Board Finance Human Resources Programmes
Mr Abel Modungwa 2/2

Dr Daniel Tau 2/2 3/3 3/3 2/3

Ms Joyce Maphorisa 2/2 2/3

Mr Odirile Gabasiane 2/2 3/3

Mr Victor Maika 2/2 3/3 3/3

Ms Matshidiso Tlhong 1/2 3/3

Ms Keba Nyati 1/2 3/3

Dr Innocent Botshelo 2/2 3/3 3/3

Dr Ernest Makhwaje 2/2 3/3

Mr Simon Coles 1/2 2/3

Ms Lebohang Letsie 2/2 3/3

Mr Ndondo Koolese 2/2 3/3

Ms Dineo Phuti 1/2 2/3

Attendance Register: Statutory Meetings

NB: The Board meetings comprised of a total of 2 statutory meetings as opposed to 3 as prescribed by the Act. The 3rd meeting could not be held 
as BOCODOL had no governing body. The term of members had expired and was not extended in view of the constitution of a new governing body 
for the University

Directors’ Remuneration 

Members are remunerated sitting allowance and only members who are not working under the parent Ministry of Tertiary Education Science and Tech-
nology are remunerated. The Chairperson is remunerated P1 575.00 while members get P1 260.00.
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As the focal point and custodian of Corporate Governance, the governing 
body uses the Corporate Governance Index as a tool for assessment and 
for guidance towards continuous improvement. The institution’s strategic 
objective	of	“Improving	Corporate	Governance”	as	defined	in	its	Strategic	
Plan for the period 2016-2020 is a constant reminder of its strategic intent. 
The Board Charter also provides a yardstick for continuous improvement 
as it states that “Council shall subscribe and promote the principles of 
good Corporate Governance as pronounced by adopted codes from time 
to time. To achieve this, Council shall ensure that: 

i) the  University reviews and adopts applicable Corporate Governance 
Code(s) that it shall benchmark the  University against; 

ii) The  University’s affairs are administered in conformance with adopted 
code(s) of good Corporate Governance; 

iii) The University’s processes and procedures conform to internal quality 
standards and that the University periodically measures its performance 
against those standards; 

iv) That a culture of fairness, transparency, responsibility and accountabil-
ity are promoted throughout University activities and personnel; 

v) members of the governing body are periodically familiarised with, un-
derstand and subscribe to adopted principles of Corporate Governance; 
and 

vi) The University adequately discloses its corporate governance practices 
along	with	the	financial	statements	in	the	annual	report.

The University therefore conducts on an annual basis an institutional gov-
ernance audit, assessing the extent to which it complies with corporate 
governance principles. The assessment is done using an in-house devel-
oped tool - the Corporate Governance Index, that is also subjected to 
review by an independent consultant. The report on the assessment con-
tains recommendations that the University takes up for improvement. 

This year, the assessment was conducted on amongst others, internal au-
dit, board processes, conduct of board evaluation, governance structures, 
disclosure	and	transparency,	compliance,	conflict	of	interest,	governance	
of risk, IT governance and stakeholder management.

The	analysis	indicates	improvement	from	an	overall	grade	of	67%	in	the	
previous	year	to	88%,	with	significant	improvement	in	the	governance	of	
risk.

Governance of Risk

Following the approval of the Risk Management Framework by the Board 
in 2016, the institution has since implemented the Framework and con-
ducted a risk assessment of its risks at Corporate level and developed a 
Corporate Risk Register in May 2017. The Board adopted this register for 
its oversight and monitoring. The Risk register has 6 major risks that the 
governing body monitors from time to time.

Several risk management workshops continued across the institution this 
year and most functions have developed their Departmental Risk Regis-
ters managed at Executive Management Level. Work on governance of 
risk institution-wide is continuing.

Corporate Governance Assessment

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE SCORECARD DASHBOARD

The Corporate Scorecard Dashboard below gives a summary of the performance of the institution in 2017/18. The report captures the actual results 
achieved in relation to the targets set at the beginning of the planning period. The results are then computed as a function of the set targets to give an 
indication of the performance status of the institution. Summary performance of each perspective of the Balanced Scorecard has also been computed 
(see the Dashboard below). 

Strategic Objective
Strategic 
Objective 

Weight

Performance 
Measure

Baseline
2016/17

Targets
2017/18 Achieved Performance 

Status

Improve Excellence

3 # of students 
completing 6005 8562 8494 99.2%

3
# of students 
completing 
(Tertiary)

1055 959 1518 158%

2
# Quality Pass (JC) 0.14% 10% 0.35% 3.5%

# Quality Pass  
(BGCSE) 10.6% 15% 12.35% 82.3%

2
# Quality Pass  (JC) 64.4% 68% 73.54% 108.1%

# Quality Pass  
(BGCSE) 91% 92% 93.3% 101%

OVERALL PERFORMANCE (BUSINESS PERSPECTIVE) 92%
Improve Progression 4 Progression rate 79% 95% 90% 94.7%

Increase Learner Retention 4 % Retention 93% 75% 78% 104%

Increase Student Enrollment 4 Volume (OS) 11763 10000 12566 125%

4

Volume (TER) 1466 2900 2504 86.3%

Improve Customer 
Satisfaction

%CSI 65% 90% 93% 96.8%

Increase Technology Usage 4
% Instructional 
Technology 
Utilisation

80% 100% 100% 100%

AVERAGE PERFORMANCE (CUSTOMER PERSPECTIVE) 101%

Quality Assurance 4 % on ODL provi-
sion index 65% 70% 62% 88.6%

Improve Customer 
Management

% Queries 
resolved on Time

98% 95%
98% 98%

% Complaints 
resolved

100% 100%

Brand perception 4
Brand perception 
index

70% 85% 76% 89.4%

Diversify Programmes 4 # of Programmes 24 28 27 96.4%

Leverage technology 5
% of technol-
ogy mediated 
programmes

29% 58% 60% 103%

Leverage Strategic 
Collaborations

3 # SLA compliance 50% 80% 82% 103%

AVERAGE PERFORMANCE (PROCESS PERSPECTIVE) 96.4%

Improve Corporate 

Governance
4

Compliance with 
Corporate Govern-
ance Index

68% 95% 87% 91.6%

Improve Implementation 

Capacity

% Compliance to 

Completion
80% 100% 100% 100%

Transform into HPO
Employee 

Engagement
60% 72% 80% 111%

% Leadership Index 97% 90% 91.2% 101%

Improve Revenue

Proportion of 

Non-Government 

Funding

35% 33% 27.8% 79.4%

AVERAGE PERFORMANCE (RESOURCES & PEOPLE PERSPECTIVE) 96.4%

Gold: above 105% 
(achivement above target)

Green: 105 - 85% 
(achievement on target)

Amber: 84 - 65% (target not 
achieved but in progress)

Red: below 65% (target not 
met)
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CORPORATE SCORECARD DASHBOARD

1.1 Business Results

The Business Results perspective comprises projects and activities in the 
University that promote growth in enrolment and student completion rate. 
Owing to the recovery of the University from the transitional issues, there 
was a marked improvement in the number of learners completing in the 
planning year. The number of learners completing at Open Schooling 
stood at 8464 against a target of 8562, which translates to an achieve-
ment	of	99.2%.	Of	the	8905	learners	who	registered	for	examinations,	441	

did not sit for the examinations. The goal of the University is to have every 
learner who registers for the exams to actually write them. An inquiry will 
be	done	to	find	interrogate	the	issues	barring	some	learners	to	forfeit	ex-
aminations. Be that as it may, A total of 1518 tertiary learners graduated 
during the reporting period – surpassing a target of 959. The table below 
gives	the	throughput	figures	across	the	programmes	from	2002.

Year JC BGCSE Certificate Diploma Degree P/Grd C/E
2002 295 407 0 0 0 0 702

2003 533 935 0 0 0 0 1468

2004 374 1351 0 0 0 0 1725

2005 487 1586 376 0 0 0 2449

2006 501 2004 716 0 0 0 3221

2007 445 2139 768 0 0 0 3352

2008 731 2530 548 0 0 0 3809

2009 918 2451 192 90 0 0 3651

2010 897 2414 255 149 0 17 3732

2011 918 3120 334 295 0 9 4676

2012 0 3605 330 163 47 2 4147

2013 1223 4550 295 299 99 10 6476

2014 1686 6081 195 393 124 0 8479

2015 1590 6177 252 447 94 0 8560

2016 1462 5241 189 510 164 3 7569

2017 1533 7372 510 543 204 62 10224

Total 13593 51963 4960 2889 732 103 74240

1.2 Customer/Stakeholder Perspective

This involves coordination of University customer management and stake-
holder engagement activities to ensure achievement of projected targets 
for student enrolment and progression, customer retention and satisfac-
tion and, technology uptake. In the reporting period, the University at-
tained	90%	progression	against	a	target	of	95%.	The	number	of	learners	
retained	stood	at	78%	against	a	target	of	75%.	While	the	high	numbers	
of progression and retention can be attributed to the level learner deter-
mination, the University is generally sensitive to learner engagement and 
support. This is seen in the context of the average progression and reten

tion	rates	across	ODL	institutions	internationally	(which	is	below	40%).	En-
rollment rates for the year under review stood at 12566 at Open Schooling 
against a target of 10000. This is an indication that the need for secondary 
school programmes currently exceeds the projected targets. While the 
enrolment at Open Schooling remained above the target, the numbers 
at Tertiary continue drag below target, however, for the reporting year, 
the enrolments picked from 1465 to 2404. The University has worked on 
some possible barriers within the application and selection processes to 
improve the enrolments.

Table 1: Summary of throughput by 
programme
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CORPORATE SCORECARD DASHBOARD

Key
JC	-	Junior	Certificate
BGCSE	-	Botswana	General	Certificate	of	Secondary	Education
MSO	-	Microsoft	Office	Suite
S/Crs - Short Courses

While the University has not embarked on a holistic customer service 
survey in the year, a point of service estimation of customer satisfaction 
stands	at	93%.	However,	a	survey	on	Student	Satisfaction	undertaken	be-
tween July 2017 and November 2017 indicated an overall satisfaction In-
dex	of	32%.	This	raises	a	red	flag	against	the	University’s	response	to	its	
core customers. Attempts are being made to undertake a comprehensive 
University Customer Satisfaction Survey to give a more reliable measure of 
customer satisfaction. Going forward, several initiatives will be put in place 
to	facilitate	learner	benefits	across	the	University	–	some	of	which	are:

i) Facilitate the setting up of smart boards in Francistown and Kang re-
gions. 
ii) Strengthen CIT support to staff through provision of training workshops.

iii) Provide increased bandwidth to facilitate full access and utilisation of 
social media including YouTube and other online facilities in learning and 
teaching. 
iv) Create a one stop-shop for users in terms of accessing technologies.
v) Develop a plan to address issues of empowering Schools through train-
ing, provision of support for Schools to develop and implement Online 
programmes, learner support etc.
vi) Provide adequate funding to develop and grow IT infrastructure in the 
Institution.
vii) Revamp the studio facilities and incrementally equip studios and Re-
gional Campuses with appropriate technology/equipment.

Table 2: Enrolment Statistics 
for 2016/17 as well as trends 
from 2000

Year JC BGCSE Certificate Diploma Degree P/Grd Total MSO S/Crs Total
2000 687 1394 0 0 0 0 2081 0 0 2081

2001 555 1225 0 0 0 0 1780 0 0 1780

2002 1093 2665 0 0 0 0 3758 0 0 3758

2003 1178 2994 0 0 0 0 4172 0 0 4172

2004 951 3687 524 0 0 0 5162 0 0 5162

2005 1467 3957 910 0 0 0 6334 0 0 6334

2006 832 3583 877 0 0 0 5292 144 0 5436

2007 1188 4919 687 538 0 0 7332 597 0 7929

2008 952 4169 242 540 0 0 5903 451 0 6354

2009 1060 4286 356 643 0 0 6345 377 0 6722

2010 1326 3836 420 912 187 20 6701 349 0 7050

2011 885 3658 323 1296 253 28 6443 147 0 6590

2012 687 4072 211 1086 748 21 6825 269 42 7136

2013 2890 8997 441 845 435 0 13608 162 120 13890

2014 3563 12287 391 2717 1013 120 20091 128 44 20263

2015 2699 10165 406 999 434 124 14827 76 156 15059

2016 2413 9350 313 1126 379 264 13845 118 83 14046

2017 2084 10482 667 1022 588 152 14065 40 15 15020

Total 26510 95726 6768 11724 4037 729 145494 2858 460 148812
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1.3 Process Perspective (Organizational effectiveness and efficiency) 

The process perspective involves creativities for the provision of insti-
tutional	 services	 to	 ensure	 organisational	 effectiveness	 and	 efficiency	
through	improved	programme	diversification,	quality	assurance	process-
es, customer management, market positioning, and leveraging on stra-
tegic collaborations. For the reporting period, the ODL provision Index 
shows	a	65%	achievement	with	respect	to	the	target	65%	for	the	year	–	in-
dicating	a	100%	achievement.	This	achievement	demonstrates	the	contin-
ued	efforts	to	improve	the	overall	efficiency	of	the	University’s	systems	and	
processes. Moving forward, the University is in the process of reviewing 
Quality	Assurance	processes,	procedures	and	instruments	to	align	to	the	
new	brand	as	well	as	preparations	 for	 the	BQA	 institutional	 registration	
and accreditation. At the writing of this report, the University was at the 
verge	of	submitting	its	profile	to	BQA	for	accreditation	as	an	Education	
and Training Provider (ETP).

The University continues to strive for increased access to programmes 
through improved technology usage. By the end of the planning year, 
the	performance	of	technology	mediated	services	stood	at	60%	out	of	a	
target	of	58%.	All	learners	doing	Online	programmes	are	fully	supported	
and	the	use	of	Facebook	shows	an	upward	growth	among	students	(Q1	
they	were	33,727	user	compare	to	34,503	user	in	Q2,	Q3	went	to	37892	
while	Q4,	 increased	 to	47123).	Moreover,	 the	website	usage	within	 the	
student	community	has	also	gone	up	(Q1	there	were	8062	users	and	Q2	
had	9792	users,	in	Q3	it	had	12377,	to	date	it	has	attracted	20449	visits).	
Total of 33 staff trained on Moodle and Online Courseware development 
and the implementation of available technology-mediated services was 
adequately done, i.e., ITS upgrade Project; Training on the ITS Assess-
ment;	RCs	capturing	of	final	results	from	semester	1	–	November,	2017	as	
part of implementation of the assessment module; the Library Manage-
ment System (Library For You - L4U); institutional repository (PowToon and 
other	e-resources	such	as	Ebsco	Host,	Emerald,	ProQuest	Central	etc.)	
 
1.4 Resources & People Perspective

The resources and people perspective, commonly referred to as ‘Learn-
ing and Growth’, focuses on ensuring availability of resources to improve 
institutional capacity and leadership through compliance to corporate 
governance	principles,	prudent	financial	management	and	development	
of human resources. For the planning year, compliance to corporate gov-
ernance	index	stood	at	87%	against	a	target	of	95%	-	which	is	an	improve-
ment	from	the	previous	year’s	68%.	While	the	risk	management	hierarchies	
were relatively new introduced, the University managed to build the ca-
pacity to keep risk registers across all departments and regions. Overall, 
the absence of audit queries is symbolic of the University’s predilection for 
good governance. 

Regarding	the	institution’s	capacity	to	operate	as	a	fully-fledged	Univer-
sity, the Botswana Open University Bill was passed by Parliament in July 
2017, subsequently, the Minister for Tertiary Education, Science and Tech-
nology declared the 1st December as the commencement day for the 
University.	 This	 brought	 the	 planned	 implementation	 capacity	 to	 100%	
(that, Human Resources, Infrastructure, Funding, Programme Menu and 
the Enactment of the BOU law). Employee engagement index revealed 
an	80%	achievement	against	a	goal	of	72%.	The	high	achievement	ex-
plains the engagement that went on due the transitional agenda both in 
anticipation of the University status as well as activities that took place 
post approval of the BOU Bill. Among some of the high level initiatives 
necessitated the engagements are: the appointment of the BOU Council, 
drafting if the BOU statutes, drawing of the conditions of service, sharing 
change management, risk management plans and the rebranding of the 
institution. These and other cascaded activities kept the momentum the 
spirit of consultation alive for the better part of the planning year. The 
leadership	 index,	at	91%,	bears	testimony	to	the	collective	 involvement	
of the University management in mobilising staff into the desired change-
Balanced Scorecard training for new academic staff under the School of 
Science and Technology.

With	regard	to	revenue	generation,	the	institution	recorded	a	28%	income	
against	a	target	of	33%.	While	this	may	look	like	an	average	performance	
relative to the target percentage, it should be clear hear that the KPI is 
pegged on government subvention which does not have predictive validi-
ty. While the actual funds generated within the institution were higher than 
the	previous	year,	 in	 the	planning	year	2017/18,	 there	was	a	significant	
increase in government subvention which shot up the divisor, hence the 
28%.	Moving	forward,	the	revenue	generation	KPI	ought	to	be	reported	in	
terms	of	the	actual	figures	instead	of	proportion.		

CORPORATE SCORECARD DASHBOARD

Table 2: Enrolment Statistics 
for 2016/17 as well as trends 
from 2000
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1. Introduction

The Southern African Development Community Centre for Distance Education (SADC-CDE) is a regional Centre established in 2005 with a 
mandate	to	provide	capacity	building	for	effective	and	efficient	provision	and	management	of	Open	and	Distance	Learning	(ODL)	within	the	
SADC region. This mandate is achieved through the facilitation of approved initiatives using various modes such as workshops, seminars, con-
ferences, sharing of resources, short and long term training. 

The 2017/2018 report highlights activities of the third and last year of the Strategic Plan 2015—2018 carried out by the Centre with the support 
of the Botswana Open University (BOU) formerly the Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL) and the Commonwealth 
of Learning (COL). 

The work covered is with respect to; Capacity building initiatives, networking and partnership activities, hosting COL Education Advisors and 
other support initiatives.

2. Summary of achievements for 2017/2018

The bulk of the funds availed for operations by the Commonwealth of Learning is spent on capacity building initiatives which are requested by 
institutions in member states to improve the provision of Open and Distance Learning (ODL). 
During the reporting period, the Centre managed to service 9 out of 10 SADC member states who had requested for support in various capac-
ity building initiatives.  The countries included Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia, Madagascar, Malawi, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zimbabwe, and Zambia. 
The	only	country	that	did	not	benefit	due	to	time	constraints	was	Mozambique.	In	addition,	the	Centre	supported	the	Distance	Education	As-
sociation of Southern Africa (DEASA), which has 13 member countries. 
The	summary	below	gives	an	account	of	the	initiatives	and	those	who	benefitted	under	the	capacity	building	function.

2.1 Project Management:  Achieving Project Success (APS) Online Course 

Six (6) member states with a total of fourteen (14) practitioners enrolled in the 12-week course that is offered by International Project Leadership 
Academy, Calleam (Pty) Consulting in Canada.  

The practitioners were from Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, Madagascar, Zambia and Zimbabwe as per the table below:
   

Southern African Development Community Centre for Distance Education 

Course/Programme 
name

No. Completed by 
Country

No. Completed 
by Gender

No. Not Completed 
by Gender

F M F M

Project Management 
Online Course 
(12 weeks by Calleam (Pty) 
Consulting - Canada)

Botswana 3 2 1 - -

Lesotho 1 1 - - -

Malawi 2 - 1 1 -

Madagascar 5 2 2 - 1

Zambia 1 - - 1 -

Zimbabwe 2 - 2 - -

Total 14 5 6 2 1
2017/18 completion of APS by 
country and gender
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as at March 2018

The Centre has trained 98 participants with a completion success rate 
of	72.4%	since	the	course	was	introduced	in	2014.	Out	of	the	98	par-
ticipants,	27	or	27.5%	dropped	out.

2.2 Information Communication Technology (ICT) Workshop: 
Narration and   Programme Production of Educational Radio Material 

The Centre supported Staff from the Namibia Open Learning Net-
work Trust (NOLNet) Partner Institutions in Namibia with 2 days train-
ing in Radio Production and Presentation focusing on Narration and 
Programme Production of Educational Radio Material. The workshop 
was run by a local Media Studies expert from the University of Namib-
ia (UNAM) in April 2018 at the Namibian College of Open Learning 
(NAMCOL).  Twenty-one (21) participants were trained. 
   
2.3 Master of Education in Open and Distance Learning (MEd in ODL)  

Tanzania	has	benefitted	 from	the	SADC-CDE	by	having	fifteen	 (15)	
ODL Practitioners sponsored for an eighteen (18) months programme 
offered by the Open University of Tanzania (OUT). The SADC-CDE 
works with the SADC-Centre in Teacher Education (Tanzania) to sup-
port	the	learners.	Nine	(9)	out	of	the	15	learners	(60%)	had	graduated	
while 4 were yet to complete during the reporting period. The pro-
gramme had two (2) learners who exited; one with an exit award and 
the other having dropped out.

A Memorandum of Agreement which facilitated this collaboration ex-
pired during the course of the implementation year. An evaluation 
of the collaboration is yet to be undertaken before consideration is 
given to sponsoring another cohort. 

2.4	 Certificate	for	Distance	Education	Practitioners	(CDEP)	course	

The course is online and offered by the Botswana Open University 
(BOU).	In	the	reporting	period,	three	countries	had	benefitted	from	
the sponsorship by having seventeen (17) ODL practitioners enrolled 
in July 2017.  The learners come from Francophone and   Anglo-
phone SADC countries; namely; Botswana, Madagascar and Zambia. 
Ten (10) of the 17 learners have completed their studies and are due 
to graduate in the BOU 2018 graduation.

3.0    Collaboration, Networking, and Partnerships

3.1 Distance Education Association of Southern Africa (DEASA)
The Centre continued to support the DEASA as its secretariat. Zam-
bia hosted the 2017 activities (an Annual Conference and the 51st 
Annual General Meeting. The Conference was held under the theme 
“The Role of Open and Distance Learning (ODL) in Education for 
Sustainable	Development”	with	five	sub-themes.	Zambia	as	the	out-
going Chair of the Association handed over to South Africa who are 
preparing for the 2018 activities to be held in South Africa.  DEASA 
will hold a joint conference with the National Association of Distance 
Education and Open Learning in South Africa (NADEOSA).

4.0   Notesmaster Project  

The Centre made concerted effort to expose member states to ex-
plore the Notesmaster e-learning platform as it has potential to open 
up access and encourage collaboration among institutions targeting 
Open Schooling. Notesmaster International was invited to two major 
activities that took place in the SADC region namely; the SADC Minis-
ters of Education and Training meeting in Swaziland in June 2017 and 
to present at the DEASA 2017 conference in Lusaka, Zambia.  The 
latter was more successful as live presentations were made.

The Notesmaster platform was adopted by COL in 2014 for use at the 
Open Schooling level. Eight (8) SADC countries, which are at various 
stages have adopted the use of the platform. The latest to develop 
their materials with support from COL are Zambia and Mozambique.  
The SADC-CDE supports the initiative and is open to more partner-
ships.  

5.0 SADC-CDE hosts COL’s Senior Advisor in Open Innovative 
Schooling 

The Centre hosted the Senior Advisor for Open Innovative School-
ing from the Commonwealth of Learning (COL) on a one-day visit 
in December 2017. The purpose of the visit was to interact with the 
Centre, BOU Open Schooling Centre and the University’s senior man-
agement.		Discussions	were	held	in	issues	of	mutual	benefit.

Southern African Development Community Centre for Distance Education 
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BOTSWANA COLLEGE OF DISTANCE AND 
OPEN LEARNING (BOCODOL) HOSTS ITS LAST 
GRADUATION

Botswana Open University hosted its last graduation as a College in its 
premises on the 24th November 2018. The Minister of Tertiary Educa-
tion, Research, Science and Technology presided over the ceremony.

In his address the Minister said “we live in a rapidly changing world 
that demands new modes of learning such as the one you are graduat-
ing from, Open and Distance learning (ODL)”. He said “ODL provides 
the widest possible opportunities for continuous access to knowledge 
throughout the course of one’s life”. He acknowledged that ODL was 
the mode of learning that had afforded them the rare opportunity 
to learn in spite of all your other commitments, such as those in the 
family, work or community maintenance responsibilities. He further 
said what evidently made their study possible was the capacity of this 
mode of learning to capitalize on the extensive use of Information 
Communication Technologies. 

BOCODL graduated a total of one thousand three hundred and 
nineteen learners in the various programmes offered. The majority 
of these graduates were for English for Professional Purposes which 
was offered to the Botswana Police Service who had entered into an 
agreement with BOCODOL to offer the programme to all its recruits 
while they were still undergoing Police training.

Talking during the graduation the Executive Director of BOCODOL 
Dr. Daniel R. Tau, explained that the, the theme for the graduation 
which was “Flexible Lifelong; Empowering the Nation” was actually 
being	confirmed	as	BOCODOL	had	empowered	the	nation	through	
its	flexible	and	lifelong	learning.	He	said	BOCODOL	had	no	restrictive	
regulations as to who should and can study with it. Throughout the 
years	BOCODOL	has	maintained	its	flexibility	and	lifelong	approach	
as shown by the three pervious strategic plans which were;

•	 2009 – 2012  The institution of Choice for Life-Long Learning
•	 2012 – 2016   The institution of Choice for Flexible, Life-Long  

Learning
•	 2016 – 2020   Inspired Excellence & Empowered Learners 

for Life-Long Learning

The Executive Director told the graduation that the College has had 
learners	 as	 old	 as	 65	 years	 doing	 Junior	 Certificate	 level	 of	 study	
which has actually improved their quality of life. He also mentioned 
that BOCODOL has had learners who graduated after from Over the 

At a glance

years BOCODOL has had graduates who had studied from Prison. 
He informed the congregation that the overall best learner in the 
Diploma in Business Management at the 2010 graduation ceremony 
was actually studying from prison.  

The	 Valedictorian	 confirmed	 the	 words	 of	 the	 Executive	 Director	
when he said ODL mode “is not a second grade type of study but 
very accommodating, regardless of place of abode or a person’s em-
ployment status’’. He encouraged his fellow graduates to go out into 
the world and be true ambassadors of Botswana Open University.

The graduation was attended by many other academics from sister 
institutions and was also graced by the Acting Vice Chancellor of 
Zimbabwe Open University which has partnered with BOCODOL in 
the provision of some of the latter’s programmes like Bachelor of 
Commerce (Industrial Relations and HR).

The graduation which was the last for the institution as BOCODOL 
will remain in the minds of all who were in attendance especially the 
staff as there will never again be a BOCODOL Graduation. BOCO-
DOL has however, really made its mark in the education terrain of 
this country.
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BOTSWANA COLLEGE OF DISTANCE AND 
OPEN LEARNING RECOGNISES ITS STAFF 
MEMBERS

Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOC-
ODOL) which prides itself with excellence in education 
celebrated the commitment and achievements of its 
staff which contributes to the institution’s status among 
educational entities in the country. The College hosted 
a ceremony in which staff that had completed their long 
term as well as short studies were honoured.  The Col-
lege recognised a total of sixteen staff members who had 
completed their studies through distance learning during 
the course of the calendar year. Six of these completed a 
programme	on	Certificate	for	Distance	Education	Practi-
tioners. 

This is a programme that the institution offers to its em-
ployees for them to fully understand how Distance Educa-
tion operates and also appreciate issues associated with 
ODL. There were two other employees who completed a 
Diploma programme offered online by Amity University in 
India. The College further celebrated the completion of 
degree and Master’s programmes by two and four of its 
employees respectively. The cherry of the evening was the 
recognition of two staff members who had attained their 

At a glance

doctoral degrees while in the employ of BOCODOL 
through Distance Learning. These were Dr. Deborah V. 
Sanoto – PhD Curriculum Studies with the University 
of Stellenbosch and Dr. Brian Muyambiri – Economics 
with the University of South Africa. BOCODOL has had 
more	than	90%	of	its	staff	upgrade	their	qualifications	
over the last ten years. Most of these have done so 
through ODL methodologies. This is testimony to the 
efficacy	of	Open	and	Distance	Learning.	The	BOCO-
DOL staff do not only advocate for ODL method of 
study but also practice it themselves.   

The College also recognised staff members that had 
remained	with	the	institution	for	ten	years	and	fifteen	
years. The long service awardees were commended for 
their commitment to the institution as this was a rare 
occurrence in today’s world as employees hop from 
one place to another in search of greener pastures.

The staff was praised for their commitment to the in-
stitution despite other opportunities that may have 
presented them during the course of the year. It was 
said that this is a rare occurrence in the current era as 
people are forever looking for greener pastures. The 
staff that had completed their studies were showered 
with praise for walking the talk and being true ambas-
sadors of Open and Distance Learning as well as life-
long learning as they had completed their different 
programmes of study through ODL methodologies.
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BOTSWANA OPEN UNIVERSITY 
IS FINALLY HERE

Botswana	 Open	 University	 finally	 arrived	 after	 some	
lengthy anxiety among staff and the general public at 
large. A number of people had shelved the establish-
ment of the University as dream that would never see 
light of day probably in our lifetime.  Botswana Open 
University was established by an Act Parliament No. 13 
of 2017 following the transformation of BOCODOL as 
sanctioned by the Presidential Directive CAB 37 A of 
2011. The commencement date of the University was 
communicated as the 8th December 2017. During his 
address on the day Botswana Open University com-
menced its operations following the transformation the 
Permanent Secretary I the Ministry of Tertiary Educa-
tion, Research, Science and Technology, Dr. Mooko, 
said “the end comes not because BOCODOL has failed 
to live up to expectations, but because BOCODOL ha, 
through its successful operations, demonstrated the 
great potential that ODL has for this country. The PS 
expressed gratitude on behalf of his Ministry that BOC-
ODOL, now BOU, was able to perform beyond expec-
tations. He further said “he hoe Botswana Open Uni-
versity will cost-effectively broaden the education base 
of this country and alow our people the opportunity to 
learn on an on-going basis.”

It is expected that this transformation will enable the 
institution to expand the scope of programmes to cater 
for diverse needs and interests of sections of the coun-
try and the increasing population of Botswana. Above 
all the transformation brought relief and excitement to 
all staff who had toiled tirelessly for the transformation. 
It is the hope of all and sundry that the institution will 
meet the expectations of all and also bring content-
ment to all associated with its transformation. 

At a glance

The Permanent Secretary with the former BOCODOL 
Executive Director also led the staff of the transformed 
BOCODOL to the entrance where the new brand was 
revealed. The commencement of BOU was also marked 
with the coming down and the hoisting of the Botswana 
College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL) and 
the	Botswana	Open	University	(BOU)	flags	respectively.	
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BOTSWANA OPEN UNIVERSITY 
FOUNDING CHANCELLOR INAUGURATED

The 12th of March, 2018 will forever remain a day to remember in 
the history of Botswana Open University. The day was a culmination 
of the transformation of Botswana College of Distance and Open 
Learning (BOCODOL) into an Open University. The institution had 
commenced to operate as a university as pronounced by the Per-
manent Secretary in the Ministry of Tertiary Education, Research, Sci-
ence and Technology, Dr. Theophilus Mooko, where he represented 
the Minister at the occasion. The commencement was on the 8th 
December, 2018. He mentioned that the institution had performed 
beyond expectations, which “led Government to conclude that the 
scope of ODL operations deserved expansion”. 

Addressing the audience that had come to witness the inauguration 
of the Founding Chancellor, the Minister of Tertiary Education, Re-
search, Science and Technology, Dr. Alfred Madigele expressed his 
gratitude to the His Excellency the President of Botswana Lt. Gen-
eral, Dr. Seretse Khama Ian Khama, His Honour The Vice President, 
Mokgweetsi Eric Masisi, His Excellency the Former President Dr. 
Festus Gontebanye Mogae for their honouring the invitation to the 
inauguration of the Founding Chancellor Dr. Ponatshego Honorious 

At a glance

Kedikilwe. He observed that the presence of the “four statesmen at 
the academic congregation all together was unique and historic in 
that it has hardly ever been possible.” The Minister also expressed 
his pleasure that His Honour the Former Vice President Dr. P. H. 
K. Kedikilwe “had accepted the request to become the Founding 
Chancellor of the Botswana Open University”. The Minister said 
the incoming Chancellor’s experience, intellect and wisdom made 
him a perfect choice for the position and that he hoped he will pro-
vide wise counsel and guidance to the institution.
In addressing the gathering the Founding Chancellor thanked His 
Excellency	 the	 President	 for	 having	 shown	 confidence	 in	 him	by	
choosing	him	from	among	many	other	“equally	qualified	and	de-
serving candidates for the position”. Given the achievement of the 
transformed BOCODOL, The Chancellor said he was proud that he 
chaired “the National Commission on Education, commonly known 
as the Kedikilwe Commission, which in 1993 recommended the set-
ting up of a College specialising in Open and Distance Learning.” 
He observed that BOCODOL had created equal opportunity, op-
portunity for access, and inclusion to a number of people. He fur-
ther said that “charting a successful path for BOU over the next few 
years is going to require the dedicated efforts of everyone involved 
in the institution”. He further advised that there was need to revisit 
the establishment of a National Council on Education as was sug-
gested by the Education Commission and that the terms of refer-
ence be aligned with the National Human Resources Development 
Strategy (NHRDS). The essence of a National Council on Education 
was to monitor and evaluate the implementation of the education 
policy and also monitor the quality of the education system.

The ceremony was attended by heads of local tertiary institutions 
like University of Botswana (UB), Botswana International University 
of Science and Technology (BIUST), Botswana University of Agri-
culture and Natural Resources (BUAN) and many others not men-
tioned by name. There were also heads of industry and parastatals.
The Chancellor was inaugurated by the Minister of Tertiary Educa-
tion, Research, Science and Technology, assisted by the Founding 
Chairperson of the Inaugural Council of the Botswana Open Uni-
versity, Mr Charles Coyne.
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The council members are required in terms of the Botswana Open University Act 2017, to maintain adequate accounting records and are 
responsible	for	the	content	and	integrity	of	the	annual	financial	statements	and	related	financial	information	included	in	this	report.	It	is	their	
responsibility	to	ensure	that	the	annual	financial	statements	fairly	present	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	University	as	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	
and	the	results	of	its	operations	and	cash	flows	for	the	period	then	ended,	in	conformity	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.	The	
external	auditors	are	engaged	to	express	an	independent	opinion	on	the	annual	financial	statements.

The	annual	financial	statements	are	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	are	based	upon	appropriate	
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The	council	members	acknowledge	that	they	are	ultimately	responsible	for	the	system	of	internal	financial	control	established	by	the	University	
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the council members to meet these responsibili-
ties, the council members sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards 
include	the	proper	delegation	of	responsibilities	within	a	clearly	defined	framework,	effective	accounting	procedures	and	adequate	segrega-
tion of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the University and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the University’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the University is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk 
across the University. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the University endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The council members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control 
provides	reasonable	assurance	that	the	financial	records	may	be	relied	on	for	the	preparation	of	the	annual	financial	statements.	However,	any	
system	of	internal	financial	control	can	provide	only	reasonable,	and	not	absolute,	assurance	against	material	misstatement	or	loss.

The	council	members	have	reviewed	the	University’s	cash	flow	forecast	for	the	year	to	31	March	2019	and,	in	light	of	this	review	and	the	cur-
rent	financial	position,	they	are	satisfied	that	the	University	has	or	had	access	to	adequate	resources	to	continue	in	operational	existence	for	
the foreseeable future.

The	external	auditors	are	responsible	for	independently	auditing	and	reporting	on	the	University’s	annual	financial	statements.	The	annual	
financial	statements	have	been	examined	by	the	University’s	external	auditors	and	their	report	is	presented	on	pages	23	to	27.

The	annual	financial	statements	set	out	on	pages	27	to	57,	which	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis,	were	approved	by	the	
council members on 27 September 2018 and were signed on their behalf by:

       

Council Chairperson        Executive Director
Gaborone         Gaborone

_________________________ _________________________

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Council Member’s Responsibilities and Approval
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Botswana Open University

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	annual	financial	statements	of	Botswana	Open	University	set	out	on	pages	8	to	33,	which	comprise	
the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	March,	2018,	and	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	
and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	notes	to	the	annual	financial	statements,	including	a	summary	of	significant	ac-
counting policies.

In	our	opinion,	the	annual	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of,	the	financial	position	of	Botswana	Open	University	as	at	31	
March,	2018,	and	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	
Standards and in the manner required by the Botswana Open University Act, 2017.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described	in	the	Auditor’s	Responsibilities	for	the	audit	of	the			annual	financial	statements	section	of	our	report.	We	are	independent	of	
the University in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(Parts	A	and	B)	(IESBA	Code)	and	other	independence	requirements	applicable	to	performing	audits	of	annual	financial	statements	in	
Botswana.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	accordance	with	the	IESBA	Code	and	in	accordance	with	other	ethical	
requirements	applicable	to	performing	audits	in	Botswana.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appro-
priate to provide a basis for our opinion.

www.grantthornton.co.bw

Botswana Accountancy Oversight Authority registration number: FAP 0052016 (Audit Firm of Public Interest Entity)
Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants membership number: MeFBW11013 (Audit and Non-Audit)
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Key audit matters

Key	audit	matters		are		those		matters	that,		in		our	professional	judgement,	were	of		most		significance	in		our	audit	
of		the	annual	financial	statements	of	the	current	period.	These	matters	were	addressed	in	the	context	of	our	audit	
of	the	annual	financial	statements	as	a	whole,	and	in	forming	our	opinion	thereon,	and	the	report	below	is	not	
intended to constitute separate opinions on those key audit matters.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
Government subventions

The University is supported by Government Subventions for their 
operational and capital expenditure. These amounts are granted by 
the government based on the budgets submitted after appropriate 
rationalisation. Government subventions are recognised in line with 
requirements of IAS 20.

For the period ended 31 March 2018, Government subventions 
amounted to P86 million.
Due	to	the	significance	of	the	amounts	involved,	this	matter	is	con-
sidered key for audit.

We obtained schedules of all government subventions, agreed 
the information to the accounting records and also obtained con-
firmations	from	the	respective	ministries	in	the	government.

We have also determined compliance to the requirements of IAS
20 for recognition and measurement of the government
subventions.
We	have	obtained	sufficient	and	appropriate	audit	evidence

Operating Expenses and payroll expenditure

The University is supported by government subventions for its op-
erating expenditure including payroll costs. Due to the high volume 
of transactions, amounts involved and the susceptibility to incurring 
expenses that may have not been carried out as per the procurement 
procedures or expenditure incurred not for the purpose of normal 
operating	activities	of	the	entity,	these	cycles	are	considered	signifi-
cant.

Payroll costs forms a very large portion of University’s expenses (more 
than	50%).	For	the	year	ended	March
2018, administrative and payroll costs exceeded P136 million. Due 
to	the	economic	significance	of	these	costs	to	the	University,	the	area	
is considered as a Key Audit Matter.

Our audit procedures included testing the appropriateness of the 
application of the procurement procedures and verifying expend-
iture to supporting documents.

We also obtained an understanding of and tested the relevant 
controls in place to evaluate the procurement procedures put in 
place by management.

We	verified	the	existence	of	employees	by	performing	procedures	
such	as	verification	of	appropriate	identity	documents,	examina-
tion	of	employee	files,	contracts	and	other	terms	of	employment.	
We	also	verified	if	the	payroll	information	was	updated	with	infor-
mation	from	the	employee	files.

We	have	obtained	 sufficient	and	appropriate	audit	evidence	 to	
conclude that the costs of operating expenses and payroll have 
not been misstated.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Responsibilities of the council members for the Annual Financial Statements

The	council	members	are	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	annual	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the council members determine is necessary to enable 
the	preparation	of	annual	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.

In	preparing	the	annual	financial	Statements,	the	council	members	are	responsible	for	assessing	the	University’s	ability	to	continue	
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the council members either intend to liquidate the University or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

Those	charged	with	governance	are	responsible	for	overseeing	the	University’s	financial	reporting	process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financial Statements

Our	objectives	are	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	annual	financial	statements	as	a	whole	are	free	from	material	
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually	or	in	the	aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	expected	to	influence	the	economic	decisions	of	users	taken	on	the	basis	
of	these	annual	financial	statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain pro-
fessional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	annual	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	design	

and	perform	audit	procedures	responsive	to	those	risks,	and	obtain	audit	evidence	that	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclo-
sures made by the council members.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the council members’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence	obtained,	whether	a	material	uncertainty	exists	related	to	events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	the	
University’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw at-
tention	in	our	auditor’s	report	to	the	related	disclosures	in	the	consolidated	annual	financial	statements	or,	if	such	disclosures	are	
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the University to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	annual	financial	statements,	including	the	disclosures,	and	wheth-
er	the	annual	financial	statements	represent	the	underlying	transactions	and	events	in	a	manner	that	achieves	fair	presentation.

Independent Auditor’s Report



B O U / B O C O D O L  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  |  2 7

Independent Auditor’s Report

We communicate with the council members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and	significant	audit	findings,	including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	we	identify	during	our	audit.

We also provide the council members with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements re-
garding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From	the	matters	communicated	with	the	council	members,	we	determine	those	matters	that	were	of	most	significance	
in	the	audit	of	the	annual	financial	statements	of	the	current	year	and	are	therefore	the	key	audit	matters.	We	describe	
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse	consequences	of	doing	so	would	reasonably	be	expected	to	outweigh	the	public	interest	benefits	of	such	com-
munication.

Reporting on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Botswana Open University Act 2017 we report to you, based on our audit, that:
•	 We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were neces-

sary for the purposes of our audit;
•	 In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the University, so far as appears from our examination of 

those books; and
•	 The	University’s	statement	of	financial	position	and	the	statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	are	in	agreement	with	

the books of account.

 
__________________________________________   __________________________
Chartered Accountants       Gaborone
Certified	Auditor:	Madhavan	Venkatachary	(Memb	No:	20030049)
Certified	Auditor	of	Public	Interest	Entity
Certificate	Number:	CAP	0017	2018

27 September 2018
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        Figures in Pula                                Note                     2018    2017

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investment property
Property, plant and equipment

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Assets

Equity and Liabilities
Equity 
Accumulated	deficit

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Retention payable
Capital grants

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue

Total Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities

3 10 955 245
4 108 031 293
 118 986 538

5 828 488
6 15 955 918
 16 784 406
 135 770 944
 
 
 

(40 388 810)
 

144 979
7 118 531 478
 118 676 457

8 28 816 948
9 28 666 349
 57 483 297
 176 159 754
 135 770 944

11 168 607
110 347 781
121 516 388

10 324 631
553 291

10 877 922
132 394 310

(22 548 981)

144 979
121 060 603
121 205 582

27 922 996
5 814 713

33 737 709
154 943 291
132 394 310

        Figures in Pula                                              Note                            2018                        2017

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2018 
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        Figures in Pula                                Note                     2018    2017         Figures in Pula                                              Note                            2018                        2017

Revenue

Other income

Other operating gains (losses)

Employee expenses

Tutor and writer expenses

Operating expenses

Operating	deficit

Finance income

Finance costs

Deficit	before	taxation

Taxation

Deficit	for	the	year

Other comprehensive income

Total	comprehensive	deficit	for	the	year

24 075 008

76 138 776

-

(71 025 995)

(4 684 542)

(31 693 081)

(7 189 834)

32 804

(406)

(7 157 436)

-

(7 157 436)

-

(7 157 436)

10                                       26 642172

11                                      92 003 753

 77 963

 (80 465 108)

 (5 574 036)

 (50 555 402)

12                                 (17 870 65813                                         

13                                             30 829

      14 -

(17 839 829)

15                                                       -

  

(17 839 829)

                                                       -

  (17 839 829)

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	Other	Comprehensive	Income	for	the	year	ended	
31 March 2018 
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Balance at 01 April 2016
Deficit	for	the	year
Other comprehensive income

Total	comprehensive	deficit	for	the	year

Balance at 01 April 2017
Deficit	for	the	year
Other comprehensive income

Total	comprehensive	deficit	for	the	year
Balance at 31 March 2018

(15 391 545)
(7 157 436)

-

(7 157 436)

(22 548 981)
(17 839 829)

-

(17 839 829)
(40 388 810)

                   Figures in Pula                                                                      Accumulated loss  Total Equity

(15 391 545)
(7 157 436)

-

(7 157 436)

(22 548 981)
(17 839 829)

-

(17 839 829)
(40 388 810)

        Figures in Pula                                               Note                  2018            2017

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018 
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                   Figures in Pula                                                                      Accumulated loss  Total Equity

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities
Cash (used in)/ generated from operations
Finance costs

Net cash from operating activities

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash from investing activities

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Movement in project and capital grants

Total cash movement for the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

        Figures in Pula                                               Note                  2018            2017

(7 533 438)
30 829

-
(7 502 609)

(1 980 950)
78 690

(1 902 260)

24 807 496

15 402 627
553 291

15 955 918

(1 729 269)
32 804

(406)
(1 696 871)

(1 832 161)
-

(1 832 161)

3 662 807

133 775
419 517
553 292

16

4

17

6

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018 
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1.	Significant	accounting	policies

The	principal	accounting	policies	applied	in	the	preparation	of	these	annual	financial	statements	are	set	out	below.	

1.1    Basis of preparation

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis	in	accordance	with,	and	in	compli-
ance with, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee	(“IFRIC”)	interpretations	issued	and	effective	at	the	time	of	preparing	these	annual	financial	statements	
and the Botswana Open University Act 2017.

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	historic	cost	convention,	unless	otherwise	stated	in	the	
accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented 
in Pula, which is the University’s functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.2				Significant	judgements	and	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty

The	preparation	of	annual	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	IFRS	requires	management,	from	time	to	time,	to	
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these esti-
mates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Trade receivables
The University assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining 
whether	an	impairment	loss	should	be	recorded	in	profit	or	loss,	the	University	makes	judgements	as	to	whether	there	
is	observable	data	indicating	a	measurable	decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	from	the	financial	asset.

The impairment (or loss allowance) for trade receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, except for individually signif-
icant trade receivables which are assessed separately. The impairment test on the portfolio is based on historical loss 
ratios,	adjusted	for	national	and	industry	specific	economic	conditions	and	other	indicators	present	at	the	reporting	
date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio 
and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Accounting Policies
31 March 2018 
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Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivable and trade payables are assumed to approximate 
their	fair	values.	The	fair	value	of	financial	liabilities	for	disclosure	purposes	is	estimated	by	discounting	the	future	
contractual	cash	flows	at	the	current	market	interest	rate	that	is	available	to	the	university	for	similar	financial	instru-
ments.

Impairment testing
The University reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such indicators exist, management determine the recoverable 
amount by performing value in use and fair value calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. When it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount for an individual asset, management 
assesses the recoverable amount for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management assess the appropriateness of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each 
reporting period. The useful lives of motor vehicles, furniture and computer equipment are determined based on 
University	replacement	policies	for	the	various	assets.	Individual	assets	within	these	classes,	which	have	a	signifi-
cant carrying amount are assessed separately to consider whether replacement will be necessary outside of normal 
replacement parameters.

1.2				Significant	judgements	and	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty	(continued)	

Provisions

Provisions are inherently based on assumptions and estimates using the best information available.

Contingent liabilities

Management applies its judgement to facts and advice it receives from its attorneys, advocates and other advisors 
is assessing if an obligation is probable, more likely than not, or remote. This judgement application is used to 
determine if the obligation is recognised as a liability or disclosed as a contingent liability.

1.3    Investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic ben-
efits	that	are	associated	with	the	investment	property	will	flow	to	the	enterprise,	and	the	cost	of	the	investment	
property can be measured reliably.

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Accounting Policies
31 March 2018 
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Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or service a 
property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised.

Cost model

Investment property is carried at cost less depreciation less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write down the cost, less estimated residual value  over the useful life of the property, 
which is as follows:

Cost model   Cost model
Freehold	land	 	 Indefinite
Buildings   50 years

1.4   Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the University holds for its own use or for rental to others and 
which are expected to be used for more than one year.

An	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	recognised	as	an	asset	when	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	
associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	University,	and	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly at-
tributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying 
assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their esti-
mated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Accounting Policies
31 March 2018 

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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 Item      Depreciation method Average useful life

 Buildings     Straight line    50 years
	 Furniture	and	fixtures	 	 	 Straight	line	 	 	 	 5	years
 Motor vehicles    Straight line    4 years
	 Furnishers	and	office	equipment	 	 Straight	line	 	 	 	 5	years
 IT equipment     Straight line    4 years

1.4   Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in 
accounting estimate.

The	depreciation	charge	for	each	year	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	unless	it	is	included	in	the	carrying	amount	of	
another asset.

An	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	derecognised	upon	disposal	or	when	no	future	economic	benefits	are	
expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount	of	the	item,	is	included	in	profit	or	loss	when	the	item	is	derecognised.

1.5    Financial instruments

Classification

The	University	classifies	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	into	the	following	categories:
•	 Loans and receivables
•	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification	depends	on	the	purpose	for	which	the	financial	instruments	were	obtained	/	incurred	and	takes	place	
at	initial	recognition.	Classification	is	re-assessed	on	an	annual	basis.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the University becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the	instruments.	The	University	classifies	financial	instruments,	or	their	component	parts,	on	initial	recognition	as	a	
financial	asset,	a	financial	liability	or	an	equity	instrument	in	accordance	with	the	substance	of	the	contractual	ar-
rangement.
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Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not de-
terminable,	which	are	measured	at	cost	and	are	classified	as	available-for-sale	financial	assets.

For	financial	instruments	which	are	not	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	transaction	costs	are	included	in	the	initial	
measurement of the instrument.

Regular	way	purchases	of	financial	assets	are	accounted	for	at	trade	date.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accu-
mulated impairment losses.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

Financial	assets	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	or	have	
been transferred and the University has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Impairment	of	financial	assets

At	each	reporting	date	the	University	assesses	all	financial	assets,	other	than	those	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	
to	determine	whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	has	been	impaired.

For	amounts	due	to	the	University,	significant	financial	difficulties	of	the	debtor,	probability	that	the	debtor	will	enter	
bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

In	the	case	of	equity	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale,	a	significant	or	prolonged	decline	in	the	fair	value	of	
the security below its cost is considered an indicator of impairment. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale 
financial	assets,	the	cumulative	loss	-	measured	as	the	difference	between	the	acquisition	cost	and	current	fair	value,	
less	any	impairment	loss	on	that	financial	asset	previously	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	-	is	removed	from	equity	as	a	
reclassification	adjustment	to	other	comprehensive	income	and	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Impairment	losses	are	reversed	when	an	increase	in	the	financial	asset’s	recoverable	amount	can	be	related	objectively	
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the 
financial	asset	at	the	date	that	the	impairment	is	reversed	shall	not	exceed	what	the	carrying	amount	would	have	been	
had the impairment not been recognised.
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Reversals	of	impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	except	for	equity	investments	classified	as	available-
for-sale.

Where	financial	assets	are	impaired	through	use	of	an	allowance	account,	the	amount	of	the	loss	is	recognised	
in	profit	or	loss	within	operating	expenses.	When	such	assets	are	written	off,	the	write	off	is	made	against	the	rel-
evant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are rec-
ognised	in	profit	or	loss	when	there	is	objective	evidence	that	the	asset	is	impaired.	Significant	financial	difficulties	
of	the	debtor,	probability	that	the	debtor	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	reorganisation,	and	default	or	delin-
quency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. 
The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of	estimated	future	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	effective	interest	rate	computed	at	initial	recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss 
is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	within	operating	expenses.	When	a	trade	receivable	is	uncollectable,	it	is	written	off	
against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited	against	operating	expenses	in	profit	or	loss.

Trade	and	other	receivables	are	classified	as	loans	and	receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the ef-
fective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid invest-
ments	that	are	readily	convertible	to	a	known	amount	of	cash	and	are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	
value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.
Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds 
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(net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrow-
ings in accordance with the University’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

1.6    Tax

Tax expenses

No provision for taxation is made as the university is exempt from income tax under the second schedule of Income 
Tax Act.

1.7    Leases

A	lease	is	classified	as	a	finance	lease	if	it	transfers	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	incidental	to	ownership.	A	
lease	is	classified	as	an	operating	lease	if	it	does	not	transfer	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	incidental	to	owner-
ship.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Income	for	leases	is	disclosed	under	revenue	in	profit	or	loss.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset. This liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.8    Impairment of assets

The University assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be im-
paired. If any such indication exists, the University estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the University also:
•	 tests	intangible	assets	with	an	indefinite	useful	life	or	intangible	assets	not	yet	available	for	use	for	impairment	an-

nually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the 
annual period and at the same time every period.
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•	 tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual as-
set. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised im-
mediately	in	profit	or	loss.	Any	impairment	loss	of	a	revalued	asset	is	treated	as	a	revaluation	decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 
prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication ex-
ists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other 
than	goodwill	is	recognised	immediately	in	profit	or	loss.	Any	reversal	of	an	impairment	loss	of	a	revalued	asset	is	
treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9				Employee	benefits

Short-term	employee	benefits

The	cost	of	short-term	employee	benefits,	(those	payable	within	12	months	after	the	service	is	rendered,	such	as	
paid	vacation	leave	and	sick	leave,	bonuses,	and	non-monetary	benefits	such	as	medical	care),	are	recognised	in	
the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The	expected	cost	of	profit	sharing	and	bonus	payments	is	recognised	as	an	expense	when	there	is	a	legal	or	con-
structive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.
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Defined	contribution	plans

Payments	to	defined	contribution	retirement	benefit	plans	are	charged	as	an	expense	as	they	fall	due.

Payments	made	to	industry-managed	(or	state	plans)	retirement	benefit	schemes	are	dealt	with	as	defined	contribution	plans	
where	the	University’s	obligation	under	the	schemes	is	equivalent	to	those	arising	in	a	defined	contribution	retirement	benefit	
plan.

1.10 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that:
•	 the University will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and
•	 the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are 
intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving	immediate	financial	support	to	the	entity	with	no	future	related	costs	is	recognised	as	income	of	the	period	in	which	it	
becomes receivable.

Government	grants	related	to	assets,	including	non-monetary	grants	at	fair	value,	are	presented	in	the	statement	of	financial	
position by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset.

Grants related to income are deducted from the related expense.

Repayment	of	a	grant	related	to	income	is	applied	first	against	any	un-amortised	deferred	credit	set	up	in	respect	of	the	grant.	
To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no deferred credit exists, the repayment is rec-
ognised immediately as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred 
income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date 
as an expense in the absence of the grant is recognised immediately as an expense.

1.11 Revenue

Revenue	is	recognised	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	the	university	and	the	revenue	
can be reliably measured.
Revenue comprises of student and tuition fees and is recognised over the period of the courses. 
Interest	is	recognised,	in	profit	or	loss,	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.
Rental income on leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1    Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The University has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the University’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2018 or later periods: 

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting model. The main 
changes arising from the issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the University are as follows:

University as lessee:
•	 Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except short term leases or leases 

where the underlying asset has a low value, which are expensed on a straight line or other systematic basis.
•	 The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, where appropriate, the initial amount of the lease liability; lease payments made 

prior to commencement of the lease less incentives received; initial direct costs of the lessee; and an estimate for any pro-
vision for dismantling, restoration and removal related to the underlying asset.

•	 The	lease	liability	takes	into	consideration,	where	appropriate,	fixed	and	variable	lease	payments;	residual	value	guaran-
tees to be made by the lessee; exercise price of purchase options; and payments of penalties for terminating the lease.

•	 The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured on the cost model at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
and adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability. However, right-of-use assets are measured at fair value when 
they	meet	the	definition	of	investment	property	and	all	other	investment	property	is	accounted	for	on	the	fair	value	model.	
If a right-of-use asset relates to a class of property, plant and equipment which is measured on the revaluation model, then 
that right-of-use asset may be measured on the revaluation model.

•	 The lease liability is subsequently increased by interest, reduced by lease payments and re-measured for reassessments or 
modifications.

•	 Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected against right-of-use assets, unless the assets have been reduced to nil, in 
which	case	further	adjustments	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

•	 The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised payments at a revised rate when there is a change in the lease 
term or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

•	 The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised lease payments at the original discount rate when there is a 
change in the amounts expected to be paid in a residual value guarantee or when there is a change in future payments 
because of a change in index or rate used to determine those payments.

•	 Certain	lease	modifications	are	accounted	for	as	separate	leases.	When	lease	modifications	which	decrease	the	scope	of	
the lease are not required to be accounted for as separate leases, then the lessee re-measures the lease liability by de-
creasing	the	carrying	amount	of	the	right	of	lease	asset	to	reflect	the	full	or	partial	termination	of	the	lease.	Any	gain	or	loss	
relating	to	the	full	or	partial	termination	of	the	lease	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	For	all	other	lease	modifications	which	
are not required to be accounted for as separate leases, the lessee re-measures the lease liability by making a correspond-
ing adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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•	 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should be presented separately from other assets and liabilities. If not, then the 
line	item	in	which	they	are	included	must	be	disclosed.	This	does	not	apply	to	right-of-use	assets	meeting	the	defini-
tion of investment property which must be presented within investment property. IFRS 16 contains different disclosure 
requirements compared to IAS 17 leases.

University as lessor:

•	 Accounting	for	leases	by	lessors	remains	similar	to	the	provisions	of	IAS	17	in	that	leases	are	classified	as	either	finance	
leases	or	operating	leases.	Lease	classification	is	reassessed	only	if	there	has	been	a	modification.

•	 A	modification	is	required	to	be	accounted	for	as	a	separate	lease	if	it	both	increases	the	scope	of	the	lease	by	adding	
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and the increase in consideration is commensurate to the stand alone 
price of the increase in scope.

•	 If	a	finance	lease	is	modified,	and	the	modification	would	not	qualify	as	a	separate	lease,	but	the	lease	would	have	been	
an	operating	lease	if	the	modification	was	in	effect	from	inception,	then	the	modification	is	accounted	for	as	a	separate	
lease. In addition, the carrying amount of the underlying asset shall be measured as the net investment in the lease im-
mediately	before	the	effective	date	of	the	modification.	IFRS	9	is	applied	to	all	other	modifications	not	required	to	be	
treated as a separate lease.

•	 Modifications	to	operating	leases	are	required	to	be	accounted	for	as	new	leases	from	the	effective	date	of	the	modifi-
cation.	Changes	have	also	been	made	to	the	disclosure	requirements	of	leases	in	the	lessor’s	financial	statements.

Sale and leaseback transactions:

•	 In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, the requirements of IFRS 15 are applied to consider whether a per-
formance	obligation	is	satisfied	to	determine	whether	the	transfer	of	the	asset	is	accounted	for	as	the	sale	of	an	asset.

•	 If the transfer meets the requirements to be recognised as a sale, the seller-lessee must measure the new right-of-use 
asset at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the right-of-use retained. The buyer 
lessor accounts for the purchase by applying applicable standards and for the lease by applying IFRS 16.

•	 If the fair value of consideration for the sale is not equal to the fair value of the asset, then IFRS 16 requires adjustments 
to be made to the sale proceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a sale, then the seller-lessee continues to recog-
nise	the	transferred	asset	and	recognises	a	financial	liability	equal	to	the	transfer	proceeds.	The	buyer-lessor	recognises	
a	financial	asset	equal	to	the	transfer	proceeds.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

The	University	expects	to	adopt	the	standard	for	the	first	time	in	the	2020	annual	financial	statements.

It	is	unlikely	that	the	standard	will	have	a	material	impact	on	the	University’s	annual	financial	statements.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS	9	issued	in	November	2009	introduced	new	requirements	for	the	classification	and	measurements	of	financial	assets.	
IFRS	9	was	subsequently	amended	in	October	2010	to	include	requirements	for	the	classification	and	measurement	of	finan-
cial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. 
Another	revised	version	of	IFRS	9	was	issued	in	July	2014	mainly	to	include	a)impairment	requirements	for	financial	assets	and	
b)	limited	amendments	to	the	classification	and	measurement	requirements	by	introducing	a	“fair	value	through	other	com-
prehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•	 All	recognised	financial	assets	that	are	within	the	scope	of	IAS	39	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement	are	
required	to	be	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	or	fair	value.	Specifically,	debt	investments	that	are	held	within	
a	business	model	whose	objective	is	to	collect	the	contractual	cash	flows,	and	that	have	contractual	cash	flows	that	are	
solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding principal are generally measured at amortised cost at the end 
of subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by 
both	collecting	contractual	cash	flows	and	selling	financial	assets,	and	that	have	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	
give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest	on	outstanding	principal,	are	
measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity investments are measured at fair value at the end of subsequent report-
ing periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the 
fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income with only dividend income 
generally	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

•	 With	regard	to	the	measurement	of	financial	liabilities	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	IFRS	9	requires	that	
the	amount	of	change	in	the	fair	value	of	the	financial	liability	that	is	attributable	to	changes	in	the	credit	risk	of	the	liability	
is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effect of the changes of the liability’s credit risk 
in	other	comprehensive	income	would	create	or	enlarge	an	accounting	mismatch	in	profit	or	loss.	Under	IAS	39,	the	entire	
amount	of	the	change	in	fair	value	of	a	financial	liability	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	is	presented	in	
profit	or	loss.

•	 In	relation	to	the	impairment	of	financial	assets,	IFRS	9	requires	an	expected	credit	loss	model,	as	opposed	to	an	incurred	
credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses 
and	changes	in	those	expected	credit	losses	at	each	reporting	date	to	reflect	changes	in	credit	risk	since	initial	recognition.	
It is therefore no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

•	 The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently avail-
able	in	IAS	39.	Under	IFRS	9,	greater	flexibility	has	been	introduced	to	the	types	of	transactions	eligible	for	hedge	account-
ing,	specifically	broadening	the	types	of	instruments	that	qualify	for	hedging	instruments	and	the	types	of	risk	components	
of	non-financial	items	that	are	eligible	for	hedge	accounting.	In	addition,	the	effectiveness	test	has	been	replaced	with	
the principal of an “economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. 
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.
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The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The	University	expects	to	adopt	the	standard	for	the	first	time	in	the	2019	annual	financial	statements.	

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 
15 Agreements for the construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue 
- Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 
to	customers	in	an	amount	that	reflects	the	consideration	to	which	the	entity	expects	to	be	entitled	in	exchange	for	
those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following 
steps:

•	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Determine the transaction price

•	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	obligation.	

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The	University	expects	to	adopt	the	standard	for	the	first	time	in	the	2019	annual	financial	statements.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.
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3. Investment property

           2018        2017
 
          Cost Accumulated         Carrying       Cost           Accumulated     Carrying 
      depreciation      value             depreciation     value 
Investment property 13 143 255 (2 188 010) 10 955 245   13 143 255       (1 974 648)   11 168 607

Reconciliation of investment property - 2018

 
           Opening  Depreciation    Total
             balance 
Investment property         11 168 607      (213 362)   10 955 245

Reconciliation of investment property - 2017

           Opening  Depreciation    Total
            balance
 
 
Investment property         11 431 308      (262 701)   11 168 607

Fair value of investment properties         13 200 000   13 200 000

4. Property, plant and equipment

         2018       2017
 
          Cost Accumulated   Carrying         Cost             Accumulated  Carrying 
     depreciation     value                 depreciation  value

Buildings  121 964 892 (19 859 799) 102 105 093 121 767 816 (17 761 132) 104 006 684
Furniture	and	fixtures	 				5	182	899	 		(2	213	354)	 				2	969	545	 				5	176	530	 		(1	977	485)	 				3	199	045
Motor vehicles      5 968 174   (4 678 876)     1 289 298     5 228 670   (4 383 211)        845 459
Office	equipment	 		14	971	806	 (13	722	077)	 				1	249	729	 		14	839	783	 (13	452	089)	 				1	387	694
IT equipment      7 758 104   (7 340 476)        417 628     8 083 126   (7 174 227)        908 899
Total   155 845 875 (47 814 582) 108 031 293 155 095 925 (44 748 144) 110 347 781

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018

            Opening balance        Additions      Disposals Depreciation   Total 
  
Buildings    104 006 684        197 076             -          (2 098 667)  102 105 093
Furniture	and	fixtures	 	 					 				3	199	045	 											6	369	 												-		 						(235	869)	 					2	969	545
Motor vehicles                  845 459        739 504             -        (295 665)      1 289 298
Office	equipment	 	 	 				1	387	694																741	484	 									(727)	 						(878	722)	 					1	249	729
IT equipment                  908 899        296 517             -        (787 788)         417 628
     110 347 781     1 980 950          (727)    (4 296 711)     108 031 293
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4. Property, plant and equipment

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017

          Opening balance Additions Transfers  Depreciation      Total 
  
Buildings   106 431 076   -        -          (2 424 392)   104 006 684
Furniture	and	fixtures	 	 							812	734	 			799	512	 							-	 	 						(236	041)	 						3	199	045
Motor vehicles       1 371 690     -        -        (526 231)          845 459
Office	equipment		 	 				1	708	213												519	072	 							-	 	 						(839	591)	 						1	387	694
IT equipment       1 042 379    513 577        -        (647 057)          908 899
Work in progress       1 822 840  -           (1 822 840)       -       -   
 
    113 188 932 1 832 161        -           (4 673 312)          110 347 781

5. Trade and other receivables

Student debtors                  275 413       2 219 867
Prepayments                      94 805            95 555
Deposits                       55 797            72 319
Value added tax                            99                   99
Receivables from Government            -       7 002 892
Staff related receivables                 197 919            49 073
Other receivable                 204 455          884 826
                 828 488     10 324 631

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2018, P 828 488 
(2017: P 2 234 404) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

3 months past due               828 488      2 234 404

Trade and other receivables impaired

As of 31 March 2018, trade and other receivables of P 12 384 193 (2017: P 351 226) were impaired and provided for. The amount of 
the provision was P 12 384 193 as of 31 March 2018 (2017: P (351 226).
The ageing of these loans is as follows:

Over 6 months            12 384 193         351 226
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5. Trade and other receivables (continued) 

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 

Opening balance                        351 226  351 226
Provision for impairment                      12 032 967             -
                                                  12 384 193               351 226

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

Bank balances                                                               10 760 621  447 981
Short-term deposits                                                  5 195 297  105 310
                                                  15 955 918  553 291

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand  

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings or historical information about counterparty default rates.

7. Capital grants

Reconciliation of capital grants - 2018

      Opening  Additions     Utilised during    Total
      balance                                the year  
Capital grants     121 060 603 1 980 948       (4 510 073)        118 531 478

Reconciliation of capital grants - 2017

      Opening  Additions     Utilised during    Total
      balance                                the year 
Capital grants     122 341 588 3 655 001       (4 935 986)        121 060 603

The University receives grants from Government based on the budget approved by the council members and the Ministry of Tertiary 
Education Research, Science and Technology. The grant is allocated between revenue and capital expenditure by the council 
members based on the approved budget. The funds are not refundable by the university  to Government under any circumstances.

8. Trade and other payables

Trade payables           1 185 199  199 238
Staff related accruals                      12 859 547          12 091 613
Withholding Tax Payable               60 767    60 767
Accrued expenses        10 491 511          11 193 133
Other payables           4 219 924            4 378 245
          28 816 948          27 922 996

Fair value of trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates its fair value

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
31 March 2018 



4 8  |  B O U / B O C O D O L  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

9. Deferred revenue

Current liabilities
- Tuition fee           6 350 017      4 203 004
- Other projects           1 611 710      1 611 710
- Revenue grant         20 704 622                     -
         28 666 349     5 814 714

10.    Revenue  

Student application and tuition fees      26 642 172    24 075 008

11.    Other income  

Rental income              620 422         631 506
Amortisation of capital grant         4 510 072      4 936 012
Tender sales                21 825           27 900
Other income              812 014         794 957
Government grants        86 039 420    69 748 401
         92 003 753   76 138 776

12.				Operating	profit	(loss)
  
Operating	deficit	for	the	year	is	stated	after	charging	(crediting)	the	following,	amongst	others:	 	

Expenses by nature  

The total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, research 
and development expenses, maintenance expenses and other operating expenses are analysed by nature as follows:

Employee costs         80 465 108    71 025 995
Operating lease charges             433 822      1 172 144
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment       4 510 073      4 936 013
Other expenses         51 185 543    30 269 466
                   136 594 546             107 403 618

13.    Finance income  

Interest income From investments in 
financial	assets:	Bank	and	other	cash	 	 	 	 									25	068	 	 									19	460
Other	financial	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 											5	761	 	 									13	344
Total interest income              30 829          32 804

14.    Finance costs  

Interest paid                         -                406

15.    Taxation  

No provision for income tax is made as the University is exempt from income tax under the second schedule of the 
Income Tax Act.
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16.    Cash used in operations

(Deficit)/surplus	before	taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Gains on disposals, scrappings and settlements of assets and liabilities
Finance income
Finance costs
Amortisation of capital grant during the year
Other non-cash item
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

17.    Movement in grants

Movements in grants
Capital grants received during the year
Revenue grants deferred
Project grants utilised during the year
Grants utilised to acquire plant and equipment during the year
Students deferred revenue received during the year

(17 839 829)

4 510 073
(77 963)
(30 829)

-
(4 510 073)

25 088

9 496 143
893 952

(7 533 438)

1 980 948
20 704 622

(100 130)
(1 980 948)
4 203 004

24 807 496

(7 157 436)

4 936 013
-

(32 804)
406

(4 936 012)
-

(4 114 773)
9 575 337

(1 729 269)

1 639 412
-

(826 809)
(1 032 547)
3 882 751
3 662 807
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18.    Related parties

Relationships

Council members      See page 1 (General information)
The	main	financier	and	guarantor	 	 	 	 Government	of	the	Republic	of	Botswana	-	Ministry	of
       Tertiary Education Research, Science and Technology
Members of key management    Dr D R Tau - Vice Chancellor
       Prof F Youngman - Deputy Vice Chancellor - Academic
       Services
       L Lesetedi - Deputy Vice Chancellor -Corporate Service
       M B Maroba - Deputy Vice Chancellor -Student Services

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable) regarding related parties
Ministry of Tertiary Education Research, Science and Technology

Related party transactions

Government Grants Ministry of Tertiary Education Research, 
Science and Technology 
Subvention
Capital grants

Board sitting fees
Board sitting fees

Remuneration of directors and other key management
Salaries	and	other	benefits
Gratuity and leave pay

9 160 640

(106 744 042)
(1 980 948)

(108 724 990)

317 578

16 927 006
3 328 066

20 255 072

7 004 892

(71 387 930)
(1 032 674)

(72 420 604)

235 221

11 302 578
912 169

12 214 747
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19.				Categories	of	financial	instruments

 
              Note                Loans and       Financial   Equity and non    Total
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		receivables	 			liabilities	at	 		financial	assets
         amortised cost   and liabilities
Categories	of	financial	instruments	-	2018 

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Assets

Equity and Liabilities
Equity 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent:
Accumulated loss

Total Equity

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Retention payable
Capital grants

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred income

Total Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities

4
3

5
6

7

8
9

-
-
-

733 584
15 955 918
16 689 502
16 689 502

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-

15 896 634
-

15 896 634
15 896 634
15 896 634

108 031 293
10 955 245

118 986 538

94 904
-

94 904
119 081 442

(40 388 810)

(40 388 810)

144 979
118 531 478
118 676 457

12 920 314
28 666 349
41 586 663

160 263 120
119 874 310

108 031 293
10 955 245

118 986 538

828 488
15 955 918
16 784 406

135 770 944

(40 388 810)

(40 388 810)

144 979
118 531 478
118 676 457

28 816 948
28 666 349
57 483 297

176 159 754
135 770 944

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
31 March 2018 



5 2  |  B O U / B O C O D O L  A n n u a l  R e p o r t

 
              Note                Loans and       Financial    Equity and non    Total
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		receivables	 			liabilities	at	 			financial	assets
            amortised cost      and liabilities
Categories	of	financial	instruments	-	2017 

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Assets

Equity and Liabilities
Equity 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent:
Accumulated loss

Total Equity

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Retention payable
Capital grants

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred income

Total Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities

4
3

5
6

7

8
9

-
-
-

10 228 977
553 291

10 782 268
10 782 268

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-

15 770 616
-

15 770 616
15 770 616
15 770 616

110 347 781
11 168 607

121 516 388

95 654
-

95 654
121 612 042

(22 548 981)
(22 548 981)

144 979
121 060 603
121 205 582

12 152 380
5 814 713

17 967 093
139 172 675
116 623 694

110 347 781
11 168 607

121 516 388

10 324 631
553 291

10 877 922
132 394 310

(22 548 981)
(22 548 981)

144 979
121 060 603
121 205 582

27 922 996
5 814 713

33 737 709
154 943 291
132 394 310

Notes to the  Annual Financial Statements
31 March 2018 

Botswana Open University
Formerly Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018



B O U / B O C O D O L  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  |  5 3

20.    Risk management

Capital risk management

The University’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the University’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide services to its students by pricing services appropriately.

Since the university is a statutory corporation incorporated through an Act of Parliament, the University is also subject to
Government policies on capital Management.

Capital is raised in the form of Government subventions to acquire assets and also to enable the operations. There are no externally 
imposed capital requirements applicable to the University.
There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 
requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management

The	University’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks:	market	risk	(including	currency	risk,	fair	value	interest	rate	risk,	cash	flow	
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The	University’s	overall	risk	management	program	focuses	on	the	unpredictability	of	financial	markets	and	seeks	to	minimise	potential	
adverse	effects	on	the	University’s	financial	performance.

Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Council members.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	operations	can	not	be	funded	and	financial	commitments	can	not	be	met	timeously	and	cost	effectively.	The	
risk arises from both the difference between magnitude of assets and liabilities and the distortion in their maturities. Liquidity risk man-
agement	deals	with	the	overall	profile	of	the	statement	of	financial	position,	the	funding	requirements	of	the	University	and	cash	flows.

The	table	below	analyses	the	University’s	financial	liabilities	into	relevant	maturity	groupings	based	on	the	remaining	period	at	the	state-
ment	of	financial	position	to	the	contractual	maturity	date.	The	amounts	disclosed	in	the	table	are	the	contractual	undiscounted	cash	
flows.	Balances	due	within	12	months	equal	their	carrying	balances	as	the	impact	of	discounting	is	not	significant.

At 31 March 2018     Less than 1 year
Trade and other payables    15 896 634

At 31 March 2017     Less than 1 year
Trade and other payables    15 770 616
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20.    Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk

Credit	risk	consists	mainly	of	cash	deposits,	cash	equivalents,	derivative	financial	instruments	and	trade	debtors.	The	university	only	
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Financial instrument             2018          2017

Banc ABC           184 819       16 360
Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited      3 331 595       58 403
Botswana Savings Bank            32 849       73 840
First National Bank Botswana      8 513 148     153 831
Stanlib Investment Management Services (Proprietary) Limited   5 195 297     105 310
Student debtors           275 413  2 219 867

The University maintains deposits and balances only with major banks with high credit standing and limits exposure to any one 
counter-party. The University has deposits with the First National Bank of Botswana Limited, Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited, Af-
rican Banking Corporation of Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank of Botswana Limited and Botswana Savings Bank. There are no credit 
ratings	available	in	Botswana	for	financial	institutions.	The	above	banks	are	either	listed	or	long	established	banks	and	have	reported	
sound	financial	results	and	continued	compliance	with	minimal	capital	adequacy	requirements.

The First National Bank of Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a subsidiary of First Rand Bank
Limited, a company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The credit rating of the First Rand Limited is BBB+

African Banking Corporation Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a wholly owned subsidiary of African
Banking Corporation Holding Limited and has a credit rating of BBB+

Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited is a long established bank in Botswana and a subsidiary of Standard Bank in South Africa. Standard
Bank South Africa is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and has a credit rating of BBB (Fitch rating). 

Botswana Savings Bank is a long established bank in Botswana and is wholly owned by the Government of Botswana. 

Foreign exchange risk

The University is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the South
Africa Rand. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities.

At	31	March	2018,	if	the	currency	had	strengthened	by	10%	against	the	South	African	Rand	with	all	other	variables	held	constant,	
post-tax	profit	for	the	year	would	have	been	P	301	(2017:	P	293)	higher,	mainly	as	a	result	of	foreign	exchange	gains	or	losses	on	
translation of South African Rand denominated cash and cash equivalents.

At	31	March	2018,	if	the	currency	had	weakened	by	10%	against	the	South	African	Rand	with	all	other	variables	held	constant,	post-
tax	profit	for	the	year	would	have	been	P301	(2017:	P	293)	lower,	mainly	as	a	result	of	foreign	exchange	gains	or	losses	on	translation	
of South African Rand denominated cash and cash equivalents.

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period

Current assets
Bank balance ZAR          3 119   3 007
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21.    Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

The	table	below	analyses	assets	and	liabilities	carried	at	fair	value.	The	different	levels	are	defined	as	follows:

Level	1:	Quoted	unadjusted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	University	can	access	at	measurement	date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

There are no assets and liabilities measured under the different level mentioned above.

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial	Instruments	measured	at	amortised	cost	for	which	the	fair	value	is	disclosed	as	the	carrying	amount	of	the	following	financial	assets	and	liabilities	
is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value:

•	 trade and other receivables
•	 cash and cash equivalents
•	 trade and other payables
•	 retention payable

22.				Comparative	figures

As at 20 July 2017, the Parliament approved the Botswana Open University Act No. 13 of 2017 which allowed for transition of the erstwhile Botswana 
College of Distance and Open Learning to an open University. This transition amongst others, included assumption of all assets, rights and obligations 
of	Botswana	College	of	Distance	and	Open	Learning		by	Botswana	Open	University.	Hence	the	comparative	figures	presented	represent	the	information	
pertaining to erstwhile Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning and the current year information is of Botswana Open University.
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Revenue
Student application and tuition fees

Other operating income
Other rental income
Amortisation of capital
Tenders
Other income
Government grants

Other operating gains (losses)
Gains on disposal of assets or settlement of liabilities

Expenses (Refer to page 33)

Operating (deficit) surplus
Finance income
Finance costs
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

26 642 172

620 422
4 510 072

21 825
812 014

86 039 420
92 003 753

77 963

(136 594 546)

(17 870 658)
30 829

-
(17 839 829)

24 075 008

631 506
4 936 012

27 900
794 957

69 748 401
76 138 776

-

(107 403 618)

(7 189 834)
32 804

(406)
(7 157 436)

11

12
13
14

           Figures in Pula                         Note                    2018                2017             Figures in Pula                             Note(s)                         2018                       2017
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           Figures in Pula                         Note                    2018                2017             Figures in Pula                             Note(s)                         2018                       2017

Other operating expenses

Administration and management fees
Auditors remuneration - external auditors
Bad debts
Bank charges
Consulting and professional fees
Consumables
Depreciation
Employee costs
Entertainment
Examination expenses
Hire charges
IT expenses
Insurance
Learner material
Lease rentals on operating lease
Legal expenses
Library books
Library resources
License fees
Moderators fees
Motor vehicle expenses
Municipal expenses
Other expenses
Partnership fees, development and maintenance
Postage
Printing and stationery
Programs expenditure
Promotions
Protective clothing
Repairs and maintenance
Staff welfare
Subscriptions
Teaching aids and audio cassettes
Telephone and fax
Training
Travel - local
Travel - overseas
Tutor and writer expenses

(310 438)
(187 004)

(12 032 967)
(1 260 037)

(109 600)
(107 718)

(4 510 073)
(80 465 108)

(104 407)
(2 670 409)
(2 024 498)
(1 505 328)

(491 717)
(4 894 142)

(433 822)
(2 030)

(332 119)
(165 945)
108 722
(33 617)

(249 957)
(2 945 497)
(4 180 427)
(1 101 485)

(166 224)
(690 490)

(1 910 893)
(1 186 621)

(12 044)
(3 834 806)

(132 842)
(42 956)

(110 505)
(504 434)
(108 708)

(1 208 569)
(1 101 795)
(5 574 036)

(136 594 546)

235 221)
(193 052)

-
(873 545)

-
(97 150)

(4 936 013)
(71 025 995)

(66 520)
(2 200 024)
(2 082 342)

(564 652)
(1 716 859)
(1 811 354)
(1 172 144)

(1 432)
(114 363)
(101 466)

(1 379 659)
(27 048)

(265 479)
(3 176 648)
(1 380 839)
(1 081 670)

(254 089)
(700 553)

(1 516 521)
(565 567)
(22 739)

(2 900 321)
(274 657)
(63 704)
(42 119)

(764 543)
(128 348)
(589 455)
(392 985)

(4 684 542)
(107 403 618)
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